
AGENDA

PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING
Date: Thursday, 30 April 2020
Time: 7.00pm
Venue:  Virtual Meeting Via *Skype.

Membership:

Councillors Cameron Beart, Monique Bonney, Roger Clark, Simon Clark, Mike Dendor, 
Tim Gibson (Chairman), James Hall, James Hunt, Carole Jackson, Elliott Jayes, 
Peter Marchington, Benjamin Martin (Vice-Chairman), Ben J Martin, David Simmons, 
Paul Stephen, Tim Valentine and Tony Winckless.

Quorum = 6 

INFORMATION FOR THE PUBLIC
* Members of the press and the public can listen to this meeting live. Please email 
democraticservices@swale.gov.uk or call 01795 417330 by 4pm on Wednesday 29 April 
2020 to be added to the Skype meeting. 

Update added below on 29 April 2020:

To join by phone (landline or mobile), dial  01795-417400 

You will then be asked to dial in the following numeric code 3667905 followed by #. (Note 
the code is different for each Skype meeting). Follow the audio instructions to join the call. If 
asked for a PIN please just hit the # button. You will then be held in a lobby until the 
meeting organiser lets you in. 

You may leave the meeting at any point and re-join the meeting by repeating the 
instructions above.

RECORDING NOTICE
Please note: this meeting may be recorded.

At the start of the meeting the Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being 
audio recorded.  The whole of the meeting will be recorded, except where there are 
confidential or exempt items.

You should be aware that the Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection Act.  
Data collected during this recording will be retained in accordance with the Council’s data 
retention policy.

Therefore by entering the meeting and speaking at Committee you are consenting to being 
recorded and to the possible use of those sound records for training purposes.

Public Document Pack



If you have any queries regarding this please contact Democratic Services.

Pages
1. Apologies for Absence and Confirmation of Substitutes

2. Minutes

To approve the Minutes of the Meeting held on 5 March 2020 (Minute 
Nos. 614 - 622) as a correct record.

3. Declarations of Interest

Councillors should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or 
other material benefits for themselves or their spouse, civil partner or 
person with whom they are living with as a spouse or civil partner.  They 
must declare and resolve any interests and relationships.

The Chairman will ask Members if they have any interests to declare in 
respect of items on this agenda, under the following headings:

(a) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) under the Localism Act 
2011.  The nature as well as the existence of any such interest must be 
declared.  After declaring a DPI, the Member must leave the meeting and 
not take part in the discussion or vote.  This applies even if there is 
provision for public speaking.

(b) Disclosable Non Pecuniary (DNPI) under the Code of Conduct 
adopted by the Council in May 2012.  The nature as well as the existence 
of any such interest must be declared.  After declaring a DNPI interest, 
the Member may stay, speak and vote on the matter.

(c) Where it is possible that a fair-minded and informed observer, 
having considered the facts would conclude that there was a real 
possibility that the Member might be predetermined or biased the 
Member should declare their predetermination or bias and then leave the 
room while that item is considered.

Advice to Members:  If any Councillor has any doubt about the 
existence or nature of any DPI or DNPI which he/she may have in any 
item on this agenda, he/she should seek advice from the Monitoring 
Officer, the Head of Legal or from other Solicitors in Legal Services as 
early as possible, and in advance of the Meeting.

Part B reports for the Planning Committee to decide

4. Deferred Item

To consider the following application:

19/500768/FULL, Owens Court Farm, Owens Court Road, Selling

5 - 22

https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=2179&Ver=4


Members of the public are advised to confirm with Planning Services prior 
to the meeting that the applications will be considered at this meeting.

Requests to speak on this item must be registered with Democratic 
Services (democraticservices@swale.gov.uk or call us on 01795 417328) 
by noon on Wednesday 29 April 2020.  Please note that instead of 
speaking live you will need to submit your 3 minute speech which will be 
read out by officers at the meeting.  There will be no facility for the public 
to speak live at Skype meetings.

We will send you a Skype link 24 hours before the meeting so you can 
listen to the meeting.

5. Report of the Head of Planning Services

To consider the attached report (Parts 2, 3 and 5).

The Council operates a scheme of public speaking at meetings of the 
Planning Committee.  All applications on which the public has registered 
to speak will be taken first.  

Requests to speak on this item must be registered with Democratic 
Services (democraticservices@swale.gov.uk or call us on 01795 417328) 
by noon on Wednesday 29 April 2020.  Please note that instead of 
speaking live you will need to submit your 3 minute speech which will be 
read out by officers at the meeting.  There will be no facility for the public 
to speak live at Skype meetings.

We will send you a Skype link 24 hours before the meeting so you can 
listen to the meeting.

23 - 124

Issued on Tuesday, 21 April 2020

The reports included in Part I of this agenda can be made available 
in alternative formats. For further information about this service, or 
to arrange for special facilities to be provided at the meeting, please 
contact DEMOCRATIC SERVICES on 01795 417330. To find out 
more about the work of the Planning Committee, please visit 
www.swale.gov.uk

Chief Executive, Services Swale Borough Council,
Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT

mailto:democraticservices@swale.gov.uk
mailto:democraticservices@swale.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Def Item 1

PLANNING COMMITTEE – 30 APRIL 2020 DEFERRED ITEM 1

Report of the Head of Planning

DEFERRED ITEMS

Reports shown in previous Minutes as being deferred from that Meeting

Def Item 1 - 19/500768/FULL
APPLICATION PROPOSAL
During the winter months, the stationing, unoccupied, of 1 welfare unit and 15 mobile homes 
used residentially in the preceding agricultural season to accommodate seasonal workers at 
Owens Court Farm, as shown on drawing 22259/56/200219V2 (Revised)

ADDRESS Owens Court Farm Owens Court Road Selling Faversham Kent ME13 9QN 

RECOMMENDATION – Grant subject to conditions

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE  Deferred from meeting of 5th March 2020

WARD Boughton And 
Courtenay

PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 
Selling

APPLICANT F W Mansfield & 
Son 
AGENT Finns (1865) Ltd

DECISION DUE DATE
18/04/19

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE
25/03/20

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Members will recall that at the meeting of this Committee held on 5th March 2020, this 
application was deferred. The minute from the meeting reads as follows:

Resolved: That application 19/500768/FULL be deferred to allow more 
information to be sought regarding the existence of any PROWs and 
consequently the visual impact of the development on the AONB.

To better gauge the visual effect of the proposal on the Kent Downs Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty (AONB), the boundary of which is approximately one hundred metres to 
the south of the site (as such, the site is outside the AONB) I consulted with the Kent 
Downs AONB Unit; and to consider the effect of the proposal on any nearby Public 
Rights of Way (PROW) I consulted with Kent County Council’s PROW Officer.

1.2 The original report is appended to this report as Appendix A.

2. EFFECT ON THE KENT DOWNS AONB

2.1 As noted above, the site is approximately one hundred metres outside the AONB.

2.2   The Kent Downs AONB Unit has responded to consultation as follows: 
 

‘The application site lies in the setting of the Kent Downs AONB, by virtue of its 
proximity to the AONB. The importance of the setting of the AONB is recognised in 
the Kent Downs AONB Management Plan 2014 to 2019. The Management Plan 
advises that the weight to be afforded to setting issues will depend on the 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Def Item 1

significance of the impact with matters such as the size of the proposals, their 
distance and incompatibility with their surroundings likely to affect impact. The Kent 
Downs AONB Management Plan is adopted by all local planning authorities in the 
Kent Downs including Swale Borough Council. Policy SD8 of the Management Plan 
states that:  Proposals which negatively impact on the distinctive landform, 
landscape character, special characteristics and utilities, the setting and views to and 
from the AONB will be opposed unless they can be satisfactorily mitigated. 

The NPPG confirms that AONB Management Plans can be relevant material 
considerations in determining planning applications. The NPPG also provides further 
amplification on setting. At paragraph 042 Reference ID: 8-042-20190721 reference is 
made to development within the settings of AONBs needing sensitive handling to 
ensure that potential impacts are taken into account.

Noting the change to the layout and the proposed additional screen hedging, we 
consider there would be very limited inter-visibility between the site of the stored 
caravans and the AONB. In order to assist in mitigating any potential effects, should 
the Council be minded to approve the application, we would be supportive of conditions 
that limit external lighting to protect the dark night skies of the adjacent AONB, requires 
the hedging to comprise indigenous species appropriate to local landscape character 
(further advice on appropriate species can be found on page 26 of the Kent Downs 
Landscape Design Handbook) and require the caravans to be coloured an appropriate 
muted shade, rather than the usual standard white/cream.’

3. PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY

3.1 There are no public rights of way (PROW) through the application site. To the east, 
footpath ZR463 terminates on Owens Court Road, approximately 100 metres from the 
site. This footpath leads onto Owens Court Road. The site can thus only be seen from 
the head of the footpath, adjacent to Owens Court Road.

3.2 To the south, footpath ZR646 also terminates on Owens Court Road, approximately 350 
metres from the site. This footpath also leads onto Owens Court Road. The site cannot 
be seen from the head of the path, due to the existing agricultural buildings in between.

3.3 To the southwest, footpath ZR394 leads from Owens Court Road proceeding in a 
westerly direction. At its nearest part, ZR394 is situated approximately 620 metres from 
the site. The site cannot be seen from the path, due to the existing agricultural buildings 
in between.

3.4 To the west, there are no footpaths within 1km of the site.

3.5 To the north, footpath ZR641, which runs for a short distance north-south, ends on 
Selling Road, approximately 700 metres from the site. The site cannot be seen from the 
head of the path.

3.6 The KCC Public Rights of Way Officer has responded to my consultation as follows:

“Thank you for consulting me on this planning application. There are no public 
rights of way affected by the application.  I therefore have no objections to the 
proposal.”

4. APPRAISAL

Page 6



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Def Item 1

4.1 As noted above, the AONB Unit has responded that they ‘consider there would be very 
limited inter-visibility between the site of the stored caravans and the AONB’ and raise 
no objections, subject to conditions. I am happy to accept their expert advice.

4.2 With regard to PROWs, only one is within sight of the proposed stationed caravans, and 
that would be from a distance of over one hundred metres, with most of the caravans 
being obscured by the existing cold store building and other existing agricultural 
buildings. The KCC PROW officer has no objection to the application. As such, I am of 
the opinion that any possible effect on views from nearby PROWs is negligible and 
therefore acceptable. 

5. CONCLUSION

5.1 In view of the above, it remains my opinion that the proposal is acceptable. I therefore 
recommend that the application be approved, subject to the conditions listed below.

6. RECOMMENDATION 

GRANT Subject to the following conditions:

CONDITIONS 

(1) The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is granted.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 
amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

(2) No caravan shall be stored on the site at any time unless the site has been used for 
the purposes of agriculture including the stationing of caravans occupied by seasonal 
agricultural worker(s) working at Owens Court Farm in the preceding agricultural 
season. 

Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the area and to ensure that the storage 
use hereby approved shall cease as soon as it is no longer contributing to the 
productivity of Owens Court Farm.

(3) No caravan being stored on the site shall be used for human habitation. 

Reason: As the site lies outside any area in which permanent residential use of the 
caravans would be permitted. 

(4) A new hedge using semi mature and mature native indigenous hedging species shall 
be planted in the position and to the full extent of the green line shown on drawing no. 
2259/56/200219V2 prior to the first winter storage of any caravan. This hedge shall be 
maintained for the entire duration of all winter storage and no caravan may be stored 
on the site unless this hedge is in place.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area.

(5) Not more than 15 caravans and one welfare unit shall be stored on the site and these 
shall only be stored in the positions shown on drawing no. 2259/56/200219V2 
(Revised).

Page 7



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Def Item 1

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area.

(6) No floodlighting, security lighting or other external lighting shall be operated at the 
site during winter storage of caravans, other than in accordance with details that 
have first been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
These details shall include:

- A statement of why lighting is required, the proposed frequency of the use and the 
hours of illumination.

- A site plan showing the area to be lit relative to the surrounding area, indicating 
parking or access arrangements where appropriate, and highlighting any significant 
existing or proposed landscape or boundary features.

- Details of the number, location and height of the lighting columns or other fixtures.
- The type, number, mounting height and alignment of the luminaries.
- The beam angles and upwards waste light ratio for each light.  
- An isolux diagram showing the predicted illuminance levels at critical locations on the 

boundary of the site and where the site abuts residential properties.  

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and the residential amenities of occupiers 
of nearby dwellings.

(7) The caravans hereby permitted shall be painted dark green.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area.

Council’s approach to the application

The Council recognises the advice in paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) February 2019 and seeks to work with applicants in a positive and proactive manner 
by offering a pre-application advice service; and seeking to find solutions to any obstacles to 
approval of applications having due regard to the responses to consultation, where it can 
reasonably be expected that amendments to an application will result in an approval without 
resulting in a significant change to the nature of the application and the application can then 
be amended and determined in accordance with statutory timescales. 

In this case, the application was considered by the Planning Committee where the 
applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the Committee and promote the application.

NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant 
Public Access pages on the council’s website.
The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is 
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

Page 8



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Def Item 1

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Def Item 1

APPENDIX A

Report to Planning Committee – 5 March 2020 Item 2.4

2.4 REFERENCE NO - 19/500768/FULL
APPLICATION PROPOSAL
During the winter months, the stationing, unoccupied, of 1 welfare unit and 15 mobile homes 
used residentially in the preceding agricultural season to accommodate seasonal workers at 
Owens Court Farm, as shown on drawing 22259/56/200219V2 (Revised)

ADDRESS Owens Court Farm Owens Court Road Selling Faversham Kent ME13 9QN 

RECOMMENDATION - Grant

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE
Called in by Ward Councillor Tim Valentine
WARD Boughton And 
Courtenay

PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 
Selling

APPLICANT F W Mansfield & 
Son 
AGENT Hobbs Parker Property 
Consultants

DECISION DUE DATE
18/04/19

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE
08/04/19

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining 
sites):
App No Proposal Decision Date
16/504494/FULL Planning permission for erection of cold 

store
Refused, 
Appeal 
allowed

21/09/2016
29/03/2017

15/505166/AGRREQ Prior approval for erection of cold store Planning 
permission 
required

27/07/2015

15/503788/AGRIC Prior notification for erection of cold store Prior 
approval 
required

27/05/2015

1.0 DESCRIPTION OF SITE

1.01 The site is on an established fruit farm of 26.5 ha, situated in a rural area some distance 
outside any built-up area boundaries and adjacent to, but not within, the Kent Downs 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). The site is reached by a narrow rural 
lane (with passing places). There is a line of semi-mature poplar trees to the front and 
the side of the proposal site, and a pair of privately occupied cottages fronting the lane. 

1.02 The farm at present contains a number of agricultural buildings of varying ages and 
styles. One such building is no longer used in conjunction with the farm and was 
approved as an agricultural machinery repairs business, sales and servicing business 
under planning reference SW/13/0381. 

Page 11



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Def Item 1

APPENDIX A

Report to Planning Committee – 5 March 2020 Item 2.4
1.03 Of some relevance is that a full planning application for a fairly small new cold store 

building on the site was refused by the Planning Committee, contrary to officer 
recommendation, and a refusal notice issued on 21st September 2016. At the 
subsequent appeal, planning permission was granted and costs were awarded against 
the Council. The conditions applied by the Inspector have been complied with, and the 
building is now nearing completion. The position of the current application site is 
immediately adjacent to this new building and the building would partially screen the 
site from the road, limiting its visual impact as, from other directions, the site is 
surrounded by orchards.

2.0 PROPOSAL

2.01 The original description of the current application was ‘Provision of seasonal 
workers caravans, welfare unit and winter storage’, and it was this description that 
the first round of local consultations was based on. However, the stationing of the 
caravans and welfare unit on agricultural land for use by seasonal workers engaged 
on the farm during the agricultural season would constitute permitted development. 
The welfare unit is essentially another caravan. As such, the application was actually 
seeking planning permission for use of the land to store these caravans in situ over 
winter, to save the applicant having to take all the caravans off site and storing them 
elsewhere. Accordingly, the description was then amended to ‘Winter storage of 
seasonal workers caravans and welfare unit’. However, concern was raised locally 
with regard to this description, and the description was again amended to the latest 
final version which reads as follows: ‘During the winter months, the stationing, 
unoccupied, of 1 welfare unit and 15 mobile homes used residentially in the 
preceding agricultural season to accommodate seasonal workers at Owens 
Court Farm, as shown on drawing 22259/56/200219V2 (Revised)’. 

2.02 There has also been a change to the proposed layout of the caravans. The original 
proposed layout showed fifteen caravans situated approximately fifty metres from the 
boundary with Owens Court Cottages and seventy five metres from Owens Court 
Road. The caravans were to be placed parallel to the road in five rows of three, and 
the welfare unit would have been placed behind the caravans, furthest away from the 
road. The southern two rows of caravans would have been obscured from the road by 
the new cold store, and it was proposed to plant a screen hedge between the caravans 
and Owens Court Cottages, to mitigate any further visual impact.

2.03 The layout has since been changed (December 2019) in accordance with a preferred 
layout suggested by a number of local residents. This more compact amended layout 
turns the caravans end on to the road meaning that they are less prominent and that 
three rows of caravans are now set behind the new building, which reduces the degree 
to which the overall group of caravans is visible. Additional screen hedging is also 
included in the amended layout, and this new layout has been the subject of local re-
consultations.

Page 12



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Def Item 1

APPENDIX A

Report to Planning Committee – 5 March 2020 Item 2.4
2.04 A Planning Statement was submitted with the application, and despite the 

amendments to the site layout this statement remains unchanged. It includes the 
following description of the development:

‘The farm needs to accommodate 40 seasonal cherry workers to work in the 
cherry production and harvest at this site. Due to controls governing 
accommodation for seasonal workers, the farm must provide suitable 
accommodation and is restricted on the number of workers per caravan. This 
therefore results in requirement for the provision of 15 caravans, which the farm 
intend to provide as three rows of 5 caravans to group them in the best 
arrangement. 

The farm currently buses in workers, on a daily basis, during the cherry season 
from other locations. This results in a financial cost to the business from the 
provision of transport and a cost to the environment, from a large number of 
daily trips to and from the farm to a variety of off-site accommodations. With 
the seasonal workers accommodated on site, a high level of traffic movements 
to and from the site can be removed, reducing traffic movements within the 
area. Accommodation on site also has the additional benefit of ensuring staff 
are available on site to address any issues that may arise with the crop. 

The communal building is to be located close to the proposed caravans, for use 
as a communal area to serve the seasonal workers. 

Whilst there is excellent local screening to the road network, the site is currently 
visible from the rear of properties at Owen’s Court Cottages. In view of this, it 
is proposed to plant a screen hedge between the caravans and Owens Court 
Cottages, to mitigate any visual impact.’

3.0 PLANNING CONSTRAINTS

3.01 Outside established built up area boundaries

3.02 Adjacent to (but not within) AONB

4.0 POLICY AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

4.01 Bearing Fruits 2031: The Swale Borough Local Plan 2017: Policies CP1 (Strong 
competitive economy), DM3 (Rural economy), DM6 (Transport), DM7 (Vehicle 
parking), DM12 (Dwellings for rural workers), DM14 (General development criteria), 
DM19 (Sustainable design), DM24 (Landscape), ST3 (Swale settlement strategy)

Page 13



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Def Item 1

APPENDIX A

Report to Planning Committee – 5 March 2020 Item 2.4

5.0 LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS

5.01 Twenty-three emails and letters of objection were received from local residents prior 
to the amended site layout being received The comments contained therein may be 
summarised as follows:

 ‘Storage of caravans is in itself not agricultural and therefore shouldn't be allowed. 
This is the countryside and storage is only related to farming and agriculture when 
seasonal agricultural workers are being housed on the land. When the workers go 
home at the end of the season it then becomes storage of caravans in the 
countryside and this is unacceptable.’

 Many workers will have their own cars, so traffic will increase
 No parking facilities
 Poor/non-existent public transport links
 No proven agricultural need
 Noise and pollution during occupation
 Harm to visual amenity and the AONB
 Owens Court farm is a small farm consisting of only 65 acres of cherries and 15 

caravans to house farm workers on this site seems excessive
 Existing deciduous hedging would not screen the site during the winter months
 ‘Mr Mansfield has a reputation of providing substandard accommodation for 

workers on his farms, and for subletting caravans to other farms to supplement 
income.’

 Vehicular access will directly effect us
 ‘Why is the site to be operational from March to September when the picking 

season only extends from June through July? It is my understanding that poly-
tunnel erection and maintenance work, pruning etc. on Owens Court Farm 
undertaken by a number of UK based companies and is not performed by the 
European workforce described Section 6.3 in the application. Why do the caravans 
need to be permanent if only 6 week occupancy is required?’

 This area of the site is prone to flooding
 No mention of the type of hardstanding for the site is given
 Owens Court Road is very narrow
 There are other sites better suited to serving the workers
 Employees can be shipped in as last year which worked quite well
 ‘Arranging the caravans in 5 rows of 3 instead of 3 rows of 5 would reduce the 

lateral spread of the site when viewed from Owens Court Road and the 
neighbouring houses, and help reduce its visual impact, and increase the number 
of caravans shielded from those views once the cold store approved is built.’

 No details of sewage disposal
 ‘The application as currently presented conflates and muddles the separate 

planning considerations by suggesting a permanent change of use for 
stationing/storage of caravans can be granted on the back of Permitted 
Development Rights and that the two can somehow operate simultaneously. This 

Page 14



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Def Item 1

APPENDIX A

Report to Planning Committee – 5 March 2020 Item 2.4
cannot be correct as land can normally only have one approved planning use at 
any time.’

 Approval will result in a loss of privacy and visual appearance. There would also 
be excess of noise, smells and disturbance from this site

 This is agricultural land, not a caravan site
 If approved, this will produce a commercial caravan site 

5.02 Since publication of the amended site layout, three separate objections (one sent both 
by a letter and by email) have been received. These raise objections covered by those 
noted above, but request certain conditions if the Council is minded to approve the 
application. These conditions include:

 Site layout should including screening hedging and fencing.
 Restrictions to storage period e.g. 1st September to 31st March each year.
 Parking restrictions e.g. no vehicles to be parked on the site during the 

storage period.
 Sewage and waste disposal methods to be adopted need further 

investigation.
 Other Damage limitation to an AONB:
 Units to be painted camouflage colour/dark green.
 No external lighting in storage period.
 No lighting poles/wires visible from Owens Court Road,
 No noisy activities after 10pm and before 8am.

5.03   Councillor Valentine asked for the application to be called into committee 
stating: “I would like to call in the planning application for caravans to be sited 
at Owens Court to be considered at planning committee”.

6.0 CONSULTATIONS

6.01 Selling Parish Council did not originally comment on the application, but since 
submission of the amended site layout they say that:

‘The application was discussed at length and the agreed outcome is that the 
Parish Council, with great reluctance, will not object to the application but to 
mitigate the negative impact of this application on the area, request that the 
following enforceable conditions are met:

 The 15 caravans are restricted to the designated area and that this area 
remains classified as agricultural land.

 The use of the 15 caravans is restricted to the 4 – 6 weeks of the cherry-
picking
season and are not to be used for the remainder of the year.

 There should be no artificial overhead lighting, only safety low level lighting.
 The colour of the caravans should be an agricultural colour.
 Car parking is kept to the west of the site with enforceable restrictions that no

Page 15



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Def Item 1

APPENDIX A

Report to Planning Committee – 5 March 2020 Item 2.4
parking is allowed on the hard-standing at the Cold Store where the water 
tank is.

 The area that is used for the parking of vehicles at the front should not be 
used as being ancillary to the caravan site.

 If it is possible to change the entrance from the North-West as shown on the 
plan, without the need to go back out to consultation, then a move of entrance 
to the South-East would be preferred.

 There should be no disturbance of the Bat Feeding Station at the barn
 There should be substantial and effective evergreen screening hedges at 

height of 2 metres minimum, in front of the caravans.
 A fence, at a height of a minimum of 2 metres should be erected to screen the

caravans whilst the natural screening grows, taking care not to damage or 
inhibit the growth of the natural screening

 A member of the Parish Council would like to speak at the planning meeting 
when this application is discussed and decided. I would appreciate it if you 
could let me know the date of the meeting at your earliest convenience 
please.’

6.02 Kent Highways and Transportation advises that the proposal does not meet their 
criteria for a response.

6.03 No response has been received from the Council’s Environmental Health Manager.

6.04 The Council’s Rural Planning Consultant raised no objection to the application as 
originally submitted. His comments were as follows: 

‘As you are aware F W Mansfield & Son are long-established fruit growers and 
who now farm about 1200 ha of orchards and soft fruit in the county, their main 
operational base being Nickle Farm, Chartham, where centralised fruit storage 
and packing takes place. 

Owens Court is a 26.5 ha fruit holding comprised of relatively newly planted 
cherry orchards, in respect of which planning consent has previously being 
granted for protective frameworks for seasonal covering with polytunnels. The 
farm also obtained consent on appeal under planning reference 16/504494 for 
the erection of a cherry store. 

As you are aware, temporary workers’ caravan accommodation can be utilised 
as “permitted” development on a seasonal basis in any event, but planning 
consent is required if the units concerned are left on site throughout the year, 
and thus effectively stored there out of season when vacant, or if the 
accommodation is sought for a worker year-round. 

It is common now for fruit and vegetable farms in Kent, who rely heavily upon 
casual workers (usually from abroad) to seek, and obtain, consent to leave 
"seasonal" caravans for workers on site all year round, subject to suitable 

Page 16



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Def Item 1

APPENDIX A

Report to Planning Committee – 5 March 2020 Item 2.4
conditions including agreed periods of occupancy/ vacancy in any one year, 
without continuous year-to-year occupation. This avoids the costs and 
upheaval (and traffic impact) of having to move such units back and forth off 
the site. 

In this case the proposal appears to be designed to secure a sufficient number 
of caravans of a suitable standard to attract, and properly accommodate, the 
required workforce (40 in this case), recognising that following the Brexit vote 
it has become more difficult to engage such staff. 

Notwithstanding the agricultural merits of the proposal, the detailed siting of 
seasonal workers’ mobiles needs to be weighed against the suitability of the 
particular location in each case, having regard to other Planning 
considerations; the overall Planning balance in this regard is a matter for the 
Borough Council to judge, but please let me know if you require any further 
advice.’

He has confirmed that the amended layout does not alter his assessment of the 
application.

7.0 APPRAISAL

7.01  When assessing this proposal, it is important to remember that it is the impact of 
stationing of unoccupied caravans over the winter period which is the main factor to 
consider in this case. Importantly, the land could still be used for the purposes of 
agriculture during the farming season as this does not constitute development, and 
permitted development rights already allow for the provision of caravans for seasonal 
workers’ accommodation over the farming season.

7.02 It should be noted that the amended site layout now being considered was suggested 
by local residents in an effort to reduce the visual impact of the proposal on the general 
character and appearance of the area, and that the applicant has accepted this 
suggested layout plan. With regard to this issue, I note that the site for the proposed 
caravans is approximately one hundred metres outside the Kent Downs AONB, which 
begins on the opposite side of Owens Court Road, and the caravans would be beyond 
the new cold store. As such, I believe that any effect upon the AONB itself is fairly 
limited. 

7.03 The economics of modern fruit farming dictate that use of caravans to house seasonal 
workers is now widespread within the Borough and indeed in agricultural areas 
throughout the country. The applicant has made a sound case for the need to house 
agricultural workers on the site, and the small number of caravans proposed is 
commensurate with the scale of this particular farm. In such a situation my view is that 
it is up to the applicant where they place caravans during the farming season, but that 
if the applicant also wishes to keep these caravans in the same location over the winter, 
they should choose a suitable location that the Council considers appropriate. In this 
case I see no objection to the proposed location for winter storage of caravans as it 

Page 17



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Def Item 1

APPENDIX A

Report to Planning Committee – 5 March 2020 Item 2.4
partially screened by the new building, which itself sits beside a substantial group of 
buildings. It is not isolated or particularly prominent location, and it has existing road 
access.

7.04 I also note that there is a tall, albeit deciduous hedge adjacent to Owens Court Road; 
and that the proposed drawings show the planting of new hedges between the 
caravans and Owens Court Cottages. As such, and on balance, I consider that the 
proposal would not have a significantly detrimental effect on visual amenity.

7.05 Although the Council is only in a position to control the storage of caravans on the site 
out of the farming season, the situation may be, to some extent, controlled by 
conditions to alleviate some of the concerns raised by local residents, with whom I 
have some sympathy. I acknowledge the list of suggested conditions from Selling 
Parish Council and, whilst I have been able to include some below, some of the 
suggested conditions cannot be said to be either reasonable, necessary or enforceable 
and I have not been able to recommend them. However, I have recommended 
conditions below which will ensure that the effect of the proposal on residential and 
visual amenity would be kept to a minimum. These conditions ensure that caravans 
can only be stored if the land has been used for agriculture including seasonal workers’ 
accommodation during the preceding season (to prevent the use continuing if the 
practice of seasonal workers use of the caravans ceases); that the caravans must be 
unoccupied over the winter; that the site should be laid out precisely as shown on the 
submitted drawing; and that the new hedge should be planted.

8.0 CONCLUSION

8.01 On balance, I therefore recommend that the proposal be approved, subject to the 
conditions set out below.

9.0 RECOMMENDATION – GRANT Subject to the following conditions:

CONDITIONS 

(1) The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is granted.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 
amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

(2) No caravan shall be stored on the site at any time unless the site has been used for 
the purposes of agriculture including the stationing of caravans occupied by seasonal 
agricultural worker(s) working at Owens Court Farm in the preceding agricultural 
season. 

Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the area and to ensure that the storage 
use hereby approved shall cease as soon as it is no longer contributing to the 
productivity of Owens Court Farm.

Page 18



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Def Item 1

APPENDIX A

Report to Planning Committee – 5 March 2020 Item 2.4

(3) No caravan being stored on the site shall be used for human habitation. 

Reason: As the site lies outside any area in which permanent residential use of the 
caravans would be permitted. 

(4) A new hedge using semi mature and mature native hedging species shall be planted 
in the position and to the full extent of the green line shown on drawing no. 
2259/56/200219V2 prior to the first winter storage of any caravan. This hedge shall be 
maintained for the entire duration of all winter storage and no caravan may be stored 
on the site unless this hedge is in place.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area.

(5) Not more than 15 caravans and one welfare unit shall be stored on the site and these 
shall only be stored in the positions shown on drawing no. 2259/56/200219V2 
(Revised).

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area.

(6) No floodlighting, security lighting or other external lighting shall be operated at the 
site during winter storage of caravans, other than in accordance with details that 
have first been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
These details shall include:

- A statement of why lighting is required, the proposed frequency of the use and the 
hours of illumination.

- A site plan showing the area to be lit relative to the surrounding area, indicating 
parking or access arrangements where appropriate, and highlighting any significant 
existing or proposed landscape or boundary features.

- Details of the number, location and height of the lighting columns or other fixtures.
- The type, number, mounting height and alignment of the luminaries.
- The beam angles and upwards waste light ratio for each light.  
- An isolux diagram showing the predicted illuminance levels at critical locations on the 

boundary of the site and where the site abuts residential properties.  

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and the residential amenities of occupiers 
of nearby dwellings.

Council’s approach to the application

The Council recognises the advice in paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) February 2019 and seeks to work with applicants in a positive and proactive manner 
by offering a pre-application advice service; and seeking to find solutions to any obstacles to 
approval of applications having due regard to the responses to consultation, where it can 
reasonably be expected that amendments to an application will result in an approval without 

Page 19



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Def Item 1

APPENDIX A

Report to Planning Committee – 5 March 2020 Item 2.4
resulting in a significant change to the nature of the application and the application can then 
be amended and determined in accordance with statutory timescales. 

In this case, the application was considered by the Planning Committee where the 
applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the Committee and promote the application.

NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant 
Public Access pages on the council’s website.
The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is 
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

Page 20



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Def Item 1

APPENDIX A

Report to Planning Committee – 5 March 2020 Item 2.4

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL

PLANNING SERVICES

Planning Items to be submitted to the Planning Committee

30 APRIL 2020

Standard Index to Contents

DEFERRED ITEMS Items shown in previous Minutes as being deferred from that 
meeting may be considered at this meeting

PART 1 Reports to be considered in public session not included elsewhere 
on this Agenda

PART 2 Applications for which permission is recommended

PART 3 Applications for which refusal is recommended

PART 4 Swale Borough Council’s own development; observation on 
County Council’s development; observations on development in 
other districts or by Statutory Undertakers and by Government 
Departments; and recommendations to the County Council on 
‘County Matter’ applications.

PART 5 Decisions by County Council and the Secretary of State on appeal, 
reported for information

PART 6 Reports containing “Exempt Information” during the consideration 
of which it is anticipated that the press and public will be excluded

ABBREVIATIONS: commonly used in this Agenda

CDA Crime and Disorder Act 1998

GPDO The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) 
Order 2015

HRA Human Rights Act 1998

SBLP Swale Borough Local Plan 2017

Page 23

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



INDEX OF ITEMS FOR PLANNING COMMITTEE – 30 APRIL 2020

 Minutes of last Planning Committee Meeting
 Deferred Items
 Minutes of any Working Party Meetings

DEFERRED ITEM

Def 1 19/500768/FULL SELLING Owens Court Farm, Owens Court
Pg 5 - 22 Road

PART 2
2.1 20/500229/FULL TUNSTALL White Acres, Hearts Delight
Pg 27 – 33 

2.2 20/500169/FULL FAVERSHAM Newton Place Surgery, Newton Road
Pg 35 – 42 

PART 3

3.1 19/506123/FULL FAVERSHAM St Nicholas Allotments, St Nicholas
Pg 43 – 48 Road

3.2 19/505886/FULL FAVERSHAM 2 Millers Cottages, Belvedere Road
Pg 49 – 55 

PART 5 - INDEX
Pg  57 – 59 

5.1 19/500661/FULL / SHEERNESS 3 Broadway
Pg 61 – 63 19/502391/LBC

5.2 18/506097/FULL MINSTER Bellever Marshlands Farm Lower
Pg 65 – 67 Road

5.3 19/504198/FULL SITTINGBOURNE Former Brewers Yard St Michaels
Pg 69 – 73 Road

5.4 18/503135/OUT MINSTER Land West of Barton Hill Drive
Pg 75 – 105 

5.5 18/503259/FULL EASTCHURCH Caravan and Stables Old Billet Lane
Pg 107 – 111 

5.6 19/503080/FULL SITTINGBOURNE 58 Volante Drive
Pg 113 – 119 

5.7 18/506635/FULL TONGE Hempstead Farm, Hempstead Lane
Pg 121 – 124 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Item 2.1

PLANNING COMMITTEE – 30 APRIL 2020 PART 2

Report of the Head of Planning

PART 2

Applications for which PERMISSION is recommended

2.1 REFERENCE NO - 20/500229/FULL
APPLICATION PROPOSAL
Demolition of 1no. outbuilding and erection of a portal framed vehicle store.

ADDRESS White Acres Hearts Delight Road Tunstall Sittingbourne Kent ME9 8JA 

RECOMMENDATION – Grant subject to conditions

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE
Parish Council objection
WARD West Downs PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 

Tunstall
APPLICANT Mr & Mrs Ansley
AGENT Nigel Sands & 
Associates

DECISION DUE DATE
19/03/20

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE
25/02/20

Planning History 

17/505254/FULL 
Proposed first floor rear extension and rooflight
Approved Decision Date: 29.11.2017

SW/03/1131 
Front and rear extension
Grant of Conditional PP Decision Date: 11.11.2003

SW/99/0966 
Two storey front extension.
Grant of Conditional PP Decision Date: 01.12.1999

1. DESCRIPTION OF SITE

1.1 White Acres is a detached house which sits on a large plot in the rural location of Hearts 
Delight, Tunstall. The streetscene here is that of similar sized detached properties of 
differing styles on spacious plots backing onto open agricultural land. 

1.2 There is amenity space and a driveway to the front of the property, and a long driveway 
to the side that reaches an area at the far end of the garden which has a hard standing 
area with stables and other simply designed outbuildings of varying construction. This 
area opens onto a field for paddock use and the keeping of small farm animals. The 
stables to be retained alongside the new building are 3.4m tall.

Page 27



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Item 2.1

1.3 Neighbouring properties have a variety of domestic outbuildings in varying styles and a 
public footpath runs between two of these gardens; the site is two gardens away from 
the footpath.

2. PROPOSAL

2.1 This application proposes the erection of a new outbuilding to house the applicant’s 
historic military vehicles. The new building would stand on the site of a smaller (5.5m x 
3.5m x 2.5m tall) metal clad building that would be removed. The new building would sit 
alongside existing stables and would measure 14m x 7m with a ridge height of 4.7m. 
The proposed building would be in finished green metal cladding with the appearance 
of a small agricultural building. It will have two roller shutter doors and a small window 
to the front and a pedestrian door and window to the side. It will sit just over 35m from 
the rear of the main house adjacent to the paddock area with its short end facing back 
towards the house.

2.2 The application is supported by a short but well illustrated Planning Statement that 
explains the nature and purpose of the proposed building as follows:

This application seeks permission for a detached portal framed building to store 
the applicant’s historic military vehicles.

These vehicles are rare and of important historic importance and their 
protection in a controlled environment is essential to keep them in their current 
pristine condition.

The proposed building height is determined by the height of the GMC353 2 ½ 
ton truck and has been kept to a minimum size.

The building would be located on the eastern boundary of the site and would 
be screened from the adjoining building by existing mature trees.

The building would replace existing stables and storage unit existing hard 
standing would be retained for circulation.

Access to the building would be from the existing drive and crossover onto 
Hearts Delight Road

2.3 Since submission, the drawings have been amended to show the stable building being 
retained rather than demolished, and the description of the application has been 
amended to that shown above. This leaves an anomaly between the Planning Statement 
(as originally submitted) and the current description of the application, although to my 
mind the drawings are now clear and unambiguous, and the change to the description 
of works has not prejudiced anyone.

3. PLANNING CONSTRAINTS

3.1 None.

4. POLICY AND CONSIDERATIONS

4.1 Development Plan: Bearing Fruits 2031: The Swale Borough Local Plan 2017, policies

CP4 – Requiring good design

Page 28



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Item 2.1

DM14 – General development criteria

5. LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS

5.1 Two neighbours have commented on the application, raising the following summarised 
points;

 The planning statement says two buildings will be demolished but the application 
is for just one to be demolished. Which is correct?

 The planning statement refers to a controlled environment; what is this controlled 
environment, will it require air conditioning which may generate noise?

 Will the new building be higher than the stables? We would not want to see the 
building higher than the current stable block

 The proposed building will be visible from our rear windows and the visual 
impact, loss of privacy and overlooking are concerns

 Concern about additional external lighting

 The application form states that the work will not be visible from the road or public 
footpath, but it will be visible from both the road and the public footpath

5.2 In response to some of these points amended drawings have been submitted to indicate 
that the proposed building will not require demolition of the stables alongside it, and they 
show the new building slightly further down the plot, further from nearest houses. 

5.3 The agent has confirmed that the new building would be 1.3m higher than the existing 
stable block, and that the height of the building is governed by the height of the tallest 
vehicle, a point he thinks has been missed by the Parish Council.

5.4 The agent has also confirmed that the controlled environment described only means that 
the vehicles would be housed in a fully enclosed building rather than the open fronted 
building that they are currently in. There are no intentions to include air conditioning units 
and there is no intention to provide additional external lighting.

6. CONSULTATIONS

6.1 Tunstall Parish Council has objected to the application in the following terms:

Tunstall Parish Council has considered the application objects to the proposal

Whilst we do not have any specialist knowledge on outbuilding planning rules, 
we felt after discussion in the Parish Council meeting that we should object to 
the application on the grounds of the size of the building proposed and the 
potential impact on neighbouring properties.

The portal framed building is replacing a low-profile stables and shed which are 
more in keeping with the location a linear development of housing on a rural 
road, with fields to the back.

The proposal to replace with something more akin to an agricultural or storage 
barn is not in keeping with this area. Our concern is that the proposal is for a 

Page 29



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Item 2.1

large, dominant building at approx. 14m by 6m (84m2) and height of over 4.5m 
An unusual building to be sited to the rear of a residential property. Whilst there 
are some mature trees on neighbouring properties, this building will not be 
completely screened off. In addition the building will be immediately on the 
boundary with the next door neighbour, and at over 4.6m high will be imposing 
above the fence-line.

When it became clear that delays to the Committee’s meetings were inevitable I sent 
the Parish Council a draft copy of this report and asked whether, in the light of my own 
conclusions on the proposal, they might wish to reconsider their objection to save the 
applicants waiting longer. They replied as follows:  

“Thank you for your email and report which has been circulated to all Councillors 
who have agreed the following response:

We do not feel comfortable with our objection to this planning application being 
rescinded. Whilst we recognise that we are in an unprecedented situation with 
Covid-19 we do not think that proper scrutiny of planning applications should be 
ignored. Given the situation we do not think that any building work could proceed 
anyway as the Government has advised against all non-essential work and 
journeys. We are happy to be flexible if regulations allow for planning committees 
to meet in some other way (remotely or by phone conference for example). 

We feel we had valid objections and these were reflected in concerns of the 
neighbours. 

The planning statement no longer matches the drawings. Whilst we appreciate 
that changes have been made to move the building further away from the houses 
we cannot be sure that the neighbours are now in support. There are no updated 
statements from them on the portal. There is no updated Planning Statement from 
the applicant/agent. 

The Parish Council discussed during their meeting that the outbuilding was to 
house a military vehicle as described in the Planning Statement. They noted during 
discussions that this height is the reason for the planning application (which 
applies to outbuildings over 4m tall). They also note that there is already an 
existing tall outbuilding on the site (opposite to the planned building) which is 
visible from footpaths ZR 141 and ZR 147 but couldn’t find any planning history 
for the other barn on Swale’s Planning Portal. We sympathise that this is a rural 
location, but it is a residential linear development too and there have been 
neighbour objections. 

We would also like to counter some of SBC’s draft Committee Report. At para. 7.2 
it is stated “the building is not particularly tall, no taller than a normal double garage 
would be”. Yet garages are normally much smaller than the proposed dimensions. 
Swale’s own Draft Parking Guidelines suggest a minimum size of 7m in length and 
6m in width. Although there is no minimum or standard height given a quick Google 
search suggests a standard height for garages is 8feet or 2.4m as garage doors 
are a standard 7ft (2.1m). This barn is over double the width of a double garage at 
14m and over double the height. 

Page 30



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Item 2.1

Swale’s Draft Parking Guidelines also say there should be an allowance of 6m in 
front of garages. Whilst we recognise this is for additional residential parking, given 
that the applicants have such a large truck has enough allowance been made for 
access given the new proximity (in the revised plans) to the opposite building of 
approximately 4.0/4.5m? The dimensions of a GMC353 2 ½ ton truck are 2.8m tall 
with a length of 6.5m.

Given the dimensions and scale of this building we still believe there will be an 
impact on neighbouring residents and the building will be very visible from the 
footpaths noted above.”

6.2 Borden Parish Council has written to say they have no comment to make on the 
application.

7. APPRAISAL

7.1 The key points to consider when reviewing this application are the impact on residential 
and visual amenity and good design.

7.2 There is potential for the proposed outbuilding roof to be visible from the road and from 
the public footpath. However, the building is not particularly tall, no taller than a normal 
double garage would be, and it would take the form and colours of a small barn which 
seems to me in keeping with these semi-rural surroundings. The proposed outbuilding 
would have ‘Moorland Green’ panels and doors, which is a khaki type colour that will aid 
in the camouflaging of the structure. 

7.3 With regard to the amenities of neighbours, the main points here relate to the use and 
height of the building, and whether these could have any negative impact on the amenity 
or outlook of neighbours. In this respect, the outbuilding would be approximately 35m 
away from the main dwelling at the very far end of a very long garden. A building of this 
scale for private vehicle storage at this distance is unlikely to be significantly detrimental 
to the outlook of neighbours. The building will sit alongside/beyond other outbuildings, 
and in a position where such outbuildings might be expected and other outbuildings can 
be found elsewhere in this row of houses. To that extent I do not see this as a particularly 
intrusive building, or one that should not give rise to significant adverse impacts on 
neighbours.

7.4 There are two windows in the proposed outbuilding, but these are small and away from 
boundaries. I see no question of overlooking arising here, and it worth remembering that 
the proposed building would be replacing an existing metal shed and open hardstanding 
area. 

7.5 In terms of design, the proposed building adopts an agricultural aesthetic which should 
fit well next to the paddock and open land to the north, without appearing out of keeping 
in what limited views form the road and footpath are available.

8. CONCLUSION

8.1 The limited scale of the proposed building means that it will have little impact on 
neighbouring residents and the street scene. The use is for private vehicle storage, and 
when considering all aspects, and notwithstanding the Parish Council’s criticisms of the 

Page 31



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Item 2.1

draft report, I consider that the building is acceptable and that planning permission 
should be granted.

9. RECOMMENDATION - GRANT Subject to the following conditions;

CONDITIONS 

(1) The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is granted. 

Reason: In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as    
amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

(2) The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with approved 
drawings 19/3029/1 and 19/3029/2A

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

(3) The garage hereby permitted shall be used only for the storage of a private motor 
vehicles or for uses ordinarily incidental to the enjoyment of the occupiers of the 
dwellinghouse.

Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the area.

The Council’s approach to the application

In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), February 
2019 the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused 
on solutions. We work with applicants/agents in a positive and creative way by offering a pre-
application advice service, where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful 
outcome and as appropriate, updating applicants / agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application. 

The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the applicant/agent had 
the opportunity to speak to the Committee and promote the application.

Page 32



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Item 2.1

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Item 2.2

2.2 REFERENCE NO -  20/500169/FULL
APPLICATION PROPOSAL
Erection of two storey extension for the creation of 8no. new consulting rooms with associated 
works and access provisions. Installation of 1no. lift and conversion of pharmacy to 3no. 
consultation rooms.

ADDRESS Newton Place Surgery Newton Road Faversham Kent ME13 8FH  

RECOMMENDATION – Grant subject to conditions 

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE
Councillor Alastair Gould is the applicant
WARD Abbey PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 

Faversham Town
APPLICANT Dr Alastair Gould 
and Partners
AGENT Urban & Rural Ltd

DECISION DUE DATE
03/04/2020

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE
27/02/20

Relevant Planning History 

18/502589/FULL 
Instillation of one pole and ANPR camera, for the purposes of managing the car park at the 
surgery (retrospective).
Approved Decision Date: 29.08.2018

18/503055/FULL 
Erection of a three storey rear extension and two storey over existing ground floor side 
extension including modifications to existing surgery pitched roof and a new entrance roof 
canopy. Demolition of existing bin store and erection of a new bin store and associated 
external works.
Approved Decision Date: 20.08.2018

1. DESCRIPTION OF SITE

1.1 Newton Place Surgery is located in the centre of Faversham close to the town centre 
and its various public car parks. The application site is in the conservation area but the 
building is modern and not of any historic significance in itself. The site sits between 
Preston Street to the west and Newton Road to the east where it has its main access 
point. Newton Road is a street of mainly late C19 houses, with some particularly fine 
houses directly opposite with some having terracotta tile, cream brick and stucco 
detailing on relief panels, pilasters, cornices and eaves and bargeboard roof details. The 
surgery has a quite sympathetic frontage in the context of the Victorian residential 
townscape.

1.2 The existing side and rear of the existing surgery building are on a much smaller scale 
when viewed from Newton Road and have no significant impact on the street. The 
buildings to the rear of the site face onto Preston Street and include a number of listed 
buildings. There is a public footpath connecting the surgery to Preston Street and the 
small, mostly single story part of the building faces this footway and presents a 

Page 35



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Item 2.2

conventional local health centre appearance.

1.3 Pedestrian access is available from both Newton Road and Preston Street and given its 
central location walking should be the predominant mode of movement. Public transport 
routes also surround the site. Vehicular access is available from Newton Road and staff 
and patient car parking is available to the side and rear of the site meaning that the 
landscape of the site is inevitably dominated by this car parking.

2. PROPOSAL

2.1 The current application is for the construction of a linked two storey detached building 
for the provision of eight additional consulting rooms on the rear (west) of the site. As 
part of the application, the pharmacy space on the ground floor of the existing surgery 
building which was granted planning permission in 2012 is to be converted to consulting 
rooms. A lift is also to be installed in the existing lobby area for ease of access to the 
upper floors of the surgery.

2.2 The proposed structure will occupy a footprint of 12m by 12m. The existing building is 
to remain otherwise intact with minor internal alterations and a knock through wall on 
the western elevation to incorporate the proposed detached structure. A single level 
passageway links the two buildings to create a corridor which will ultimately serve as a 
waiting area. Materials are proposed to complement the existing building closely with a 
brick façade on the ground floor, engineered bricks, aluminium and metal frames in a 
colour palette to match or pick up on hues in the existing. Amended drawings now show 
a more sympathetic roof form that will be clad in slate to match the main building instead 
of the shallow metal roof originally indicated.

2.3 I raised early concerns about the design of the roof profile and material choice with the 
applicant and amendments have since been received to address these concerns. The 
amendments provide a more sympathetic solution to the concerns raised. It should be 
noted these changes were based only on aesthetics elements and they do not impact 
on the proposed scale, massing and fenestration detailing of the proposed building. For 
this reason, a re-consultation exercise was not deemed necessary.

2.4 The extension will result in the overall loss of five parking spaces for patrons, but an 
increase in disabled parking provision is to increase from two to three spaces.

2.5 The background to this application is that planning permission was granted in August 
2018 for the erection of a three storey rear extension and two storey extension over 
existing ground floor side extension as detailed above under planning reference 
18/503055/FULL referred to above. This application is extant however due to financial 
constraints, this project has not been viable and the applicant has opted for a detached 
standalone structure with a more simplified design and material choice in the form of this 
application. 

2.6 The footprint of the latest application is similar to that previously approved. Due to the 
level changes and reduced number of floors, the proposed structure will provide eight 
consultation rooms with additional gain of three rooms from the conversion of the 
existing pharmacy which previously was to be improved.

Page 36



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Item 2.2

The application is supported by helpful Design & Access Statement, Tree Survey and a 
“Case for Change” documents. In support of the application, the applicants have stated:

‘The proposal represents a sensitive scheme which will bring the existing over-
stretched medical centre closer to the level and size of facility required for the 
community it is serving.

This should provide some intermediate breathing space, whilst keeping open the 
option for a larger expansion at a later date to fulfil the full need. The scheme, if 
approved, will provide much-needed accommodation that the existing practice 
requires, as set out in their Needs Case.

The proposed design is thought to be of a high architectural quality and would not be 
detrimental to the site location or the conservation area. The height, scale and mass 
are all considered to be in-keeping and appropriate for its location. The building is 
served by an existing means of access which is thought to be entirely satisfactory for 
the proposed development.

It is considered that the proposal makes efficient use of an under-used large site, 
which would see the expansion of its existing uses entirely appropriate for this 
location. The scheme, if approved, will have great benefits for the local community 
providing a much-needed service and as such, with respect, we feel the scheme 
should be granted consent.”

3. PLANNING CONSTRAINTS

Conservation Area Faversham
Listed Buildings MBC and SBC Ref Number: 1298/SW
Description: G II 26 AND 27, PRESTON STREET, FAVERSHAM, ME13 8PE
Section 106 or 52 Agreement SW/97/0676

4. POLICY AND CONSIDERATIONS

4.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF): Chapters 2, 8, 9, 12 and 16

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

Development Plan: Bearing Fruits 2031: The Swale Borough Local Plan 2017 - Policies 
ST1, ST7, CP4, CP5, DM14, DM16, DM19 and DM33

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG): Conservation Areas

5. LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS

5.1 The Faversham Society supports the application and stated:

"This proposal should be SUPPORTED because it would help to deal with the increase 
in population in the town. It is regrettable that the previously approved larger scheme 
was not able to be carried out at this stage."

One nearby resident has objected to the application with comments below:

- I strongly object to this Application, as it will overlook my property and will result 

Page 37



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Item 2.2

in a loss of privacy.

- It will also adversely affect the re-sale value of my property. I have lived in and   
owned this property for twenty years.

6. CONSULTATIONS

6.1 Faversham Town Council supports the application and provided comments noted below:

- It is vital that this practice is extended to continue the provision of services in the town 
centre. This extension will provide improved facilities.
- The extension is smaller than originally hoped but will allow further extension in the 
future.

Kent Highways and Transportation raise no objection subject to planning conditions and 
provided existing parking management measures remain in place, to ensure parking 
within the site is suitably managed.

7. BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS

7.1 Application papers for application 20/500169/FULL

8. APPRAISAL

8.1 As with the previously approved scheme, the main issues for consideration are the 
principle of development; the quality of the layout and design and impact on heritage 
assets; impact on residential amenity and highway safety.

8.2 The site lies within the built up area boundary of Faversham where development is 
acceptable in principle, subject to compliance with local plan objectives and all material 
planning concerns. Policies ST1 and CP5 support proposals for new and enhanced uses 
of land and buildings for public and community uses, and also development that 
promotes healthy communities. Such proposals are expected to be in sustainable 
locations served by a choice of sustainable travel options. This is the case here.

8.3 The proposed extension to the surgery is sited within a sustainable town centre location 
with easy access to all modes of public transport and pedestrian connections. The 
proposed building would accommodate a range of medical facilities which would 
promote healthy communities. The development is clearly supportive of the health and 
wellbeing of the community. It would facilitate the on-going function of the surgery and 
address the over capacity issues they are currently experiencing. This is regarded as 
positive aspect of the proposed development which is supported and no objections in 
principle are raised.

Design

8.4 In relation to design and heritage impact; the existing building has been amended to 
respond to the late C19 streetscape of Newton Road, which sits within the town’s 
conservation area and for this reason the impact on the design on the area is of particular 
importance. The existing building will be untouched in the main by the development 
scheme, and will retain its character and the positive contribution it makes to Faversham 
conservation area when viewed from the east (Newton Road elevation). The proposed 
building will be contained on the rear of the existing with limited views from the main 
roads

Page 38



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Item 2.2

8.5 It is my understanding that the design principle of the current application is for a stand 
alone structure with a clear delineation between existing and new by the use of 
materials. The design and roof form were however considered to be at odds with the 
existing structure and the scheme as originally submitted has since been revised 
through discussions involving input from the Conservation and Design Team. After 
receiving revised drawings, it is now considered that the scheme is well designed and 
sympathetic to the conservation area location. 

8.6 The new structure as amended will retain its individuality and will be clearly distinguished 
from the existing. Subject to the use of quality materials which will match closely to the 
existing, the design of the proposal is now supported as these elements unify the 
buildings on site for a more pleasing visual impact.

Residential amenity
8.7 The application site is located in a predominantly residential area in close proximity to 

several residential dwellings. The impact of the proposal on neighbouring residential 
amenity will therefore have to be closely examined. Whilst I acknowledge that over the 
years the footprint of the surgery has increased through various extensions; it cannot be 
argued that this has been to the detriment of neighbouring occupiers.

8.8 The footprint of the current proposal will be closer to the boundary with properties to the 
south of the site and I note a neighbour at No. 34 has objected to the proposal (details 
noted above). Objections raised relate to the overlooking, loss of privacy and loss of 
property value. In response to the former concern, the proposed building will have two 
windows on the southern elevation (one on each floor). These windows will lead from 
circulation areas such as corridors and staircase landings. Such areas are not usually 
considered to be spaces people will usually congregate to create overlooking concerns. 
I believe a planning condition for the use of obscure glazed windows will be adequate to 
address any overlooking and loss of privacy concerns. The second point raised by the 
objector which relates to loss of property value cannot be address on this platform as 
this issue is not a material planning consideration.

8.9 Given the size and height of many of the buildings in the vicinity, I do not consider the 
proposed extension at two storeys is too high to create overbearing impact; its visible 
nature is due to the size of the site. Fenestration details are in positions where there will 
be minimal privacy impact. The siting of the proposal has been carefully considered, 
there will no doubt be uninterrupted views of the new structure from rear gardens of 
neighbouring properties. It is however considered that due to the separation distances 
involved and the screening from established vegetation along the common boundary to 
the south of the site, residential amenity would not be adversely affected by the proposal.

Highway and parking

8.10 The Highway Authority has assessed the application and is in support of the application 
subject to stated conditions. Although this is a busy town centre location, the Authority 
advises that the proposal will not result in a material impact on the highway network. 
They have considered measures the applicant has already put in place such as smart 
metering and advertisement to ensure the parking spaces for staff and patients are not 
abused by the general public.

8.11 A total of five parking spaces on site are to be lost due to the extension. Due to the 
restricted nature of the site, no additional spaces can be gained elsewhere but although 
the loss of vehicular parking could be seen as a negative aspect of the proposal, KCC’s 
supplementary guidance on parking (2016) has standards for staff and patient parking 
need which are stated as maximum standards. The level of parking is also to be 

Page 39



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Item 2.2

balanced against the highly accessible and sustainable location of the site. Vehicular 
parking availability is considered to be acceptable in relation to set maximum guidance 
limits considering the town centre location. In light of existing parking management 
measures currently in place and of Kent Highways’ comments, a planning condition 
requiring a construction management plan will be sufficient to limit impact on pedestrian 
and highway safety. 

8.12 Swale’s own draft parking standards (October 2019) also set as a maximum standard 
(see paragraph 85) so there is no conflict here either, especially in this central location 
where there are strong on-street parking controls and an increase in disable parking is 
proposed.

Summary of planning merits

8.13 The proposal is clearly supportive of the health and wellbeing of the community and this 
is regarded as a very positive aspect of the proposed development having regard to 
policy CP5. The scheme in its current form is considered to be well designed and 
sympathetic to its conservation area setting and no negative impact on residential 
amenity has been identified.

8.14 The Highway Authority considers that the proposal will not result in a material impact on 
the highway network considering the existing parking management strategy. Having 
regard to the above considerations, and in particular, the positive community and health 
benefits of the proposal, it is considered that the scheme amounts to a sustainable form 
of development in a sustainable location and the application is recommended for 
approval.

RECOMMENDATION – Grant subject to the following conditions

CONDITIONS

(1) The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is granted.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 
amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

(2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with approved 
drawings A1453-105-P2, A1453-110-P1, A1453-111-P2, A1453-112-P2, A1453-020-
P3, A1453-021-P3, A1453-022-P3, A1453-023-P2 and A1453-024-P2.

Reason: in the interests of proper planning and for the avoidance of doubt

(3) The roof shall be covered in natural slate and, notwithstanding the indications of 
proposed materials as set out in the applicant’s Design and Access Statement, no 
development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place until samples of 
all proposed wall facing materials have been submitted to and approved in wring by 
the Local Planning Authority, and works shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details.

Reason: In the interest of preserving or enhancing the character and appearance of 
the conservation area.

(4) The proposed windows on the southern elevation of the extension shall at all times be 
obscure glazed to not less that the equivalent of Pilkington Glass Privacy Level 3, and 

Page 40



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Item 2.2

these windows shall be incapable of being opened except for a high level fanlight 
opening of at least 1.7m above inside floor level.

Reason: To prevent overlooking of adjoining properties and to safeguard the privacy 
of neighbouring occupiers.

(5) No development beyond the construction of foundations shall take place until a 
detailed hard landscape proposal showing pedestrian routes, parking areas and all 
materials to be used in the construction of this hard landscaping have been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and works shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interest of promoting safe pedestrian access and of preserving or 
enhancing the character and appearance of the conservation area.

(6) No development beyond site clearance and excavations for foundations shall proceed 
other than in accordance with a Construction Management Statement which has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved 
Plan shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The Plan shall provide 
for: 

i. timing of deliveries
ii. provision of wheel washing facilities
iii. temporary traffic management / signage
iv. measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction 
v. a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction 
works 

Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the area and highway safety and 
convenience.

The Council’s approach to the application

In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), February 
2019 the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused 
on solutions. We work with applicants/agents in a positive and creative way by offering a pre-
application advice service, where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful 
outcome and as appropriate, updating applicants / agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application. 

The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the applicant/agent had 
the opportunity to speak to the Committee and promote the application.

NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant 
Public Access pages on the council’s website.
The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is 
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

Page 41



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Item 2.2

Page 42



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Item 3.1

PLANNING COMMITTEE – 30 APRIL 2020 PART 3

Report of the Head of Planning

PART 3

Applications for which REFUSAL is recommended

3.1 REFERENCE NO -  19/506123/FULL
APPLICATION PROPOSAL
Retrospective application for erection of boundary fence and entrance gates. (Works complete)

ADDRESS St Nicholas Allotment St Nicholas Road Faversham Kent ME13 7PB  

RECOMMENDATION - Refusal

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE
Applicant is a member of the Town Council
WARD Watling PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 

Faversham Town
APPLICANT Faversham Town 
Council

DECISION DUE DATE
09/03/20

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE
10/02/20

1. DESCRIPTION OF SITE

1.1 This retrospective application relates to land used as allotments that is located within 
the Local Plan defined built up area of Faversham. The allotments are now in the control 
of the applicant following their transfer from Borough Council ownership some years 
ago. The site is now being restored for allotment use after a long period of dereliction. 
Access to the site is by two narrow footpaths from St. Nicholas Road, one of which leads 
south-westwards to a level crossing on the main railway line where it runs to the south 
of the allotments.

1.2 The allotments adjoin established housing to the north and east. Along its eastern 
boundary the fence runs at the bottom of the gardens of ten houses, whilst along its 
northern boundary it runs on the far side of a path that provides the only access to the 
front doors of five houses that face the site. 

1.3 To the west of the allotments site is the southern part of the former Cremer and Whiting 
brickworks site which has been vacant for some years, but which is now being 
redeveloped for new housing under outline planning permission 14/502729/OUT 
(approved on 23 December 2015) and reserved matters application 18/506283/REM 
(approved 30 October 2019). These decisions authorise the re-development of the 
former brickworks and land to its north for up to 250 dwellings. The approved site layout 
includes two areas of public open space and five houses with relatively short rear 
gardens (and a small block of flats) alongside the allotments and the new fence. The 
approved layout indicates a path leading from the new estate directly in to the allotments 
adjacent to these new houses approximately halfway along the western boundary of the 
allotments.

Page 43



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Item 3.1

1.4 A Section 106 Agreement (dated 22 December 2015) tied to the outline planning 
permission has secured an index linked financial contribution towards “Off-Site play 
Space and Allotment Contribution” of £861.24 per dwelling payable prior to the first 
occupation of the 63rd dwelling on the site. This contribution is intended to fund the 
construction of off-site play equipment in Lower Road and the refurbishment of the St. 
Nicholas Road Allotment Site, but it has not been triggered yet as the development has 
not yet reached that stage.

2. PROPOSAL

2.1 This application seeks retrospective planning permission for the erection of a boundary 
fence and entrance gates to the allotments site. The galvanised palisade fencing 
completely surrounds the allotments site and is 290m long and 2.4m in height. The fence 
has three pedestrian gates, one each on its northern, south-western and south-eastern 
sides. It does not have a gate on its western side where the path from the new housing 
estate is due to be built.

3. PLANNING CONSTRAINTS

3.1 Potential Archaeological Importance 

4. POLICY AND CONSIDERATIONS

4.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

4.2 Development Plan: Bearing Fruits 2031: The Swale Borough Local Plan 2017 policies

Policy CP5: Health and wellbeing
Policy DM14: General development criteria

Policy CP5 reads as follows;

The Council, working in conjunction with relevant organisations, communities 
and developers, will promote, protect and work to improve the health of Swale’s 
population, and reduce health inequalities.

Development proposals will, as appropriate:

1. Bring forward accessible new community services and facilities, including 
health facilities;
2. Safeguard existing community services and facilities where they are viable 
or can be made so, or where replacement facilities can be provided without 
leading to any shortfall in provision, or where the local Clinical Commissioning 
Group has indicated a need for health facilities;
3. Safeguard or provide as appropriate, open space, sport and recreation in 
accordance with Policy DM 17, additionally enabling access to nature in 
accordance with the Local Plan Natural Assets and Green Infrastructure 
Strategy in Policy CP 7;
4. Promote healthier options for transport, including cycling and walking;
5. Improve or increase access to a healthy food supply such as allotments, 
markets and farm shops;
6. Create social interaction and safe environments through mixed uses and in 
the design and layout of new development;

Page 44



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Item 3.1

7. Create a healthy environment that regulates local climate by providing open 
space and greenery to achieve shading and cooling, particularly within existing 
urban environments; and
8. Undertake and implement a Health Impact Assessment for relevant 
proposals that are:

a. required to undertake Environmental Impact Assessments; or
b. within Swale's most deprived wards; or
c. identified as required by the Local Plan.

In terms of Policy DM 14 amongst the criteria to assess all development 
proposals it includes the following:
 “ …….7. Be both well sited and of a scale, design ,appearance and detail 
that is sympathetic and appropriate to the location.
8. Cause no significant harm to amenity and other sensitive uses or 
areas………….”

5. LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS

5.1 Two letters from residents of wider Faversham have commented, in summary, that:

 the area had become a derelict area for some 20 years, with rubbish, fly tipping and 
anti-social behaviour

 local residents have worked hard to clear up the site and bring it to a condition fit 
for general and social use

 the fencing is absolutely necessary as the ground had been used for illegal fly 
tipping and other anti-social behaviour

 the fence not only provides security to the allotments site, but also to the rear 
boundaries of adjoining houses in St Nicholas Road

 when the site was unfenced tools were stolen from a wooden shed 

 the fencing is standard industrial grade fencing used around the town

 planting is and will continue to be provided to reduce the initial stark nature in front 
of 96 to 104 St Nicholas Road

 the eastern boundary is already hidden by tall trees and adjacent domestic fencing 
and sheds

 the western boundary is set against rising land and the approved development 
includes trees which will screen the fencing

6. CONSULTATIONS

6.1 The KCC Public Rights of Way East Kent Area Officer has raised no objection as long 
as the access gates open into the allotments. One resident of wider Faversham has 
written in response to point out that as the fence has already been built it can be seen 
that the gates open into the allotments.

Page 45



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Item 3.1

6.2 The County Archaeological Officer has confirmed that no archaeological measures are 
required.

6.3 Swale Footpaths Group says that they have nothing to add to the KCC Public Rights of 
Way Officer’s comments.

6.4 The Council’s Green Spaces Manager has commented as follows:

“I would recognise the strong desire to secure an allotment site given the level of both 
anti-social behaviour and theft that can be experienced both in terms of interference 
and theft of produce and from tool sheds etc. As such, supportive of fencing as it is 
not unusual for sites to have similar secure fencing to appropriate heights, for 
example East Hall Allotment site in Sittingbourne.

The St. Nicholas site is vulnerable tucked in behind housing with limited natural 
surveillance while also having a boundary on a public footpath with passers-by 
viewing potential “opportunities”.

APPRAISAL

6.5 The main consideration in the determination of this planning application is the impact of 
the proposed fence on residential and visual amenity, and whether any adverse impact 
is outweighed by the benefits of the fencing.

6.6 In my view the new 2.4m high pallisade fence has a very intrusive and harsh appearance 
close to existing and proposed housing.  It is prominent and harmful to visual and 
neighbouring amenities, especially those properties fronting onto it, and to the new 
development that was permitted close to it without an expectation of such an intrusive 
fence. The residents at 96-104 St Nicholas Road have short front gardens which face 
the new palisade fencing at close range, and they must pass the fence every time they 
enter or leave their homes. The fence has a very distinct industrial appearance and an 
enclosing effect and is very intrusive. The other surrounding properties (including the 
new housing development under construction to the west), have/will have rear gardens 
enclosed with appropriate fencing which are less intrusive.

6.7 The land has previously been set between rear gardens and the brickworks to the west. 
The former brickworks has been closed for some time and this may have reduced natural 
security and surveillance of the allotments site. However, the re-development of the 
brickworks site will bring back that natural security and reduce the need for such a high 
security fence. To my mind the need for the fence is doubtful and its harm is not 
outweighed by the need.

6.8 Whilst a 2m fence could be erected without the need for a planning application the 
applicants have exceeded that height without considering the need for planning 
permission. I see no reason why most, if not all, of the benefits of the fence cannot be 
secured by a 2m high fence, and that solution still exists. To that extent refusal of the 
current application does not deny the applicant from securing the site.

6.9 I have considered the supportive comments of the Greenspaces Officer in relation to the 
similar fencing around allotments at East Hall in Sittingbourne. However, that fencing is 
largely screened by established planting, is far further from and less intrusive to 

Page 46



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Item 3.1

neighbours, and surrounds a site which sits between the back of a housing estate and 
industrial development; not between housing areas and immediately in front of dwellings 
where it significantly affects their outlook and amenity. The fencing will also be alongside 
two areas of public open space that have yet to be laid out, and where I consider that it 
will detract from their quality and amenity. The East Hall site is far less well supervised 
by existing and proposed housing and more vulnerable. I do not see the situations as so 
similar that the fencing there provides any justification for the fencing at St. Nicholas 
Road.

7. CONCLUSION

7.1 On the basis of the above, I consider the boundary fence and entrance gates would 
amount to an obtrusive structure which would give rise to significant harm to the visual 
and neighbouring amenities of the area, which the need for does not outweigh.  As 
such I recommend planning permission is refused.

8. RECOMMENDATION – Refuse for the following reason;

REASON

(1) The proposed fence would, by virtue of its siting, height and design, result in a 
prominent and intrusive form of enclosure which causes demonstrable harm to the 
character and appearance of the area and visual amenities of the area, which in the 
Council’s opinion the need for does not outweigh the harm that it causes. It would 
therefore be unacceptable development contrary to policies DM14 and CP4 of the 
Council’s 2017 adopted Local Plan Bearing Fruits 2031.

The Council’s approach to the application

In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), February 
2019 the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused 
on solutions. We work with applicants/agents in a positive and creative way by offering a pre-
application advice service, where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful 
outcome and as appropriate, updating applicants / agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application. 

In this instance the application was considered by the Planning Committee where the 
applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the Committee and promote the application.

NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant 
Public Access pages on the council’s website.

Page 47



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 Item 3.1

Page 48



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 3.2

3.2 REFERENCE NO -  19/505886/FULL
APPLICATION PROPOSAL
Replacement of ground floor front door and 2no. first floor French doors (Part Retrospective)

ADDRESS 2 Millers Cottages Belvedere Road Faversham Kent ME13 7LN  

RECOMMENDATION - Refuse

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE
Town Council in support
WARD Abbey PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL 

Faversham Town
APPLICANT Mr Raymond 
Lindley

DECISION DUE DATE
28/04/20

PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE
03/04/20

Relevant planning history

SW/01/0898
Demolition of silos and weigh bridge and the erection of a terrace of six 3 storey town houses, 
each with two bedrooms and an integral garage
Approved Decision Date 23.07.2002

1. DESCRIPTION OF SITE

1.1 2 Millers Cottage is a modern three storey mid-terraced property located within the 
Faversham conservation area, built on former industrial land. The terrace was granted 
planning permission in 2002 after substantial design negotiations, as part of the largely 
residential based redevelopment of Faversham Creekside. Here, the overall design 
approach was intended to reflect the industrial heritage of the Creekside. To that end 
the agreed approach employed large industrial scale buildings (subdivided into houses 
and flats) rather than individual domestic scale structures that would have looked far 
more like a typical housing estate, and which would have eroded the heritage value of 
the area. 

1.2 The aesthetic chosen for Millers Cottages is that of a converted warehouse, or 
reminiscent of a weaver’s workshop, with the top floor windows embedded in vertical 
timber panelling spanning the entire width of the block. The unity of the design is key to 
minimising the domesticity of the architecture; and all properties in the block were built 
with natural slate roofs, timber cladding and timber doors and windows. Until now, they 
have all retained that unity. Condition (19) of the original planning permission 
SW/01/0898 prohibits further alterations to the houses as a means of protecting the 
original design intentions of cohesion and retaining the original aesthetic.

1.3 The terrace is also subject to the Council’s Article 4(2) Direction dated May 2007 which 
was issued in order to prevent piecemeal degradation of the town via incremental 
Permitted Development changes and, ideally, to raise the standard of appearance of 
properties when changes are being made.  

Page 49



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 3.2

2. PROPOSAL

2.1 This application seeks planning permission for a replacement ground floor front door 
and two first floor French doors. The front door (already installed) is a GRP composite 
door withy woodgrain finish, again in white but with a larger window in the upper part. 
The first floor glazed doors would be replaced in aluminium. The applicant has sent 
photographs of the door and of doors found on various recent developments nearby – 
some wood, some metal, and has set out on the application for the reasoning behind 
the proposals as follows:

‘Replacement of ground floor front door and first-floor French doors (x2) with 
replacements. The existing ground floor entrance door and the 1st floor French doors, 
installed as part of the new build of the property in 2004, are past their workable life 
with the locks failing, the softwood timber degrading and varnish peeling. The softwood 
doors and frames provide very poor insulation and the design of the doors, particularly 
the ground floor entrance door gives very poor security. Light and draughts can be 
seen and felt around each of the doors due to the degrading of the wood which 
significantly compromises the thermal efficiency and environmental credentials of the 
property.

‘For the ground floor door: the existing window in the door limits the amount of natural 
light that enters in the north-west facing door meaning that an electric light needs to be 
constantly switched on in the hallway. We wish to increase the size of the front door 
window to allow in further natural light adding considerably to the environmental 
credentials of the replacement.

‘The Ground floor entrance door would be constructed with industry-leading GRP 
(Glass Reinforced Polyester) noted for its suitability for the marine environment. The 
composite door in Anglian's Cottage range is designed to create a country feel 
replicating the natural grain of wood and continuing the modern cottage style 
architectural design theme of the 2005 build date of the house and to match the existing 
creme paintwork.

‘The 1st-floor French doors would be replaced with Aluminium doors to replicate the 
existing style and design again suitable for the marine environment of the creek to 
match the existing grey paintwork.

‘All doors frames and cills/thresholds would be professionally installed by the leading 
installer Anglian windows. The doors are installed with kitemarked 3-star Ultion cylinder 
locks. The lock system is built with unparalleled inner strength to protect our property 
from the different forms of attack used by burglars, leaving our door safely ‘locked. Our 
replacement doors would consist of:

• Steel keeper plates and robust hinges for high-performance security

• Energy-efficiency, keeping the cold out and the warmth in

• Low maintenance for the marine environment of the creek

• Anti-drill: Specialised anti-drill pins in the barrel provide resistance.

Page 50



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 3.2

• Anti-pick: The pin stack is designed to make it impossible to pick the lock.

• Anti-snap: Special cuts allow a small section of the cylinder to be sacrificedunder 
attack, leaving the remainder intact.

• Anti-plug extraction: Special sections snap when attacked, leaving the rest of the plug 
whole. The anti-snap cuts provide additional resistance.

• Anti-bump: The pin stack design prevents even the most advanced bump keys from 
working.’

and

‘The existing timber doors, frames and sill/threshold's installed as part of the new build 
of the property in 2005 had passed a workable life with the locks failing, the softwood 
timber degrading and the paintwork peeling and the cills subject to  ear and tear. The 
existing badly fitted softwood doors on the ground floor and first floor give very poor 
insulation significantly impacting our energy bills and presenting very poor security. 
Light and draughts can be seen and felt around each of the doors due to the degrading 
of the wood which has rotten in places, significantly compromising the thermal 
efficiency and environmental credentials of the property. Thus, the timber frames, 
doors and sill/threshold's would thus need to be removed to allow installation of full 
replacements.’

3. PLANNING CONSTRAINTS

Swale Article 4 directive

Conservation Area Faversham

4. POLICY AND CONSIDERATIONS

4.1 Bearing Fruits 2031: The Swale Borough Local Plan 2017 policies 

CP4 (Requiring good design)

CP8 (Conserving and enhancing the historic environment)

DM14 (General Development)

DM16 (Alterations and extensions)

DM33 (Development affecting a conservation area)

4.2 Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) ‘Designing and Extension’ and ‘Conservation 
Areas’. The former contains the following guidance which I consider is also relevant to 
alterations to houses:

“4.0 On any house, an extension should be well designed to reflect its existing 
character. The use of matching bricks, other facing materials, and roof tiles with 
appropriate doors and windows is essential if an extension is not to upset the 
appearance of the house or the area as a whole.”

Page 51



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 3.2

4.3 The Council’s SPG advice for conservation areas contains the following statement:

“C Alterations

6.9 The quality and interest of a conservation area is made up from the sum of all its 
parts. Modest buildings such as terraced house and cottages can contribute to the 
character of the area. It follows that alterations to these buildings can therefore have a 
considerable impact upon the appearance and quality of the conservation area. 
Repairs carried out in like materials using traditional methods will have little or no effect 
but quite small changes such as replacement of timber sash windows with plastic or 
metal framed windows, can not only downgrade the appearance of the building and 
the conservation area, but can also devalue the property itself. The Council, therefore, 
asks property owners within conservation areas to think carefully before altering their 
buildings or undertaking repairs…Doing things the right way will be vital to help 
maintain the attractiveness of an area. It can then continue to be appreciated by 
residents and visitors alike.”

5. LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS

5.1   None

6. CONSULTATIONS

6.1 Faversham Town Council is in support of the application, saying that “There is already 
a range of different front doors in the area”.

7. BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS

7.1 Application papers for application 19/505886/FULL

8. APPRAISAL

8.1 The main issue to consider on this application is the affect of the new GRP composite 
front door and proposed metal French windows on the character and unity of the overall 
building and, in turn, the effect on the surrounding Faversham conservation area.  

8.2 I am mindful of the SPG advice set out above, and that adopted Local Plan policy DM33 
states that;

‘development (including change of use and the demolition of unlisted buildings or other 
structures) within, affecting the setting of, or views into and out of a conservation area, 
will preserve or enhance all features that contribute positively to the area’s special or 
appearance’.

8.3 This property lies within the Faversham conservation area and it is one of a number of 
former industrial sites on the east bank of Faversham Creek.  It lies to the east of 
Belvedere Road and hence its eastern (rear) boundary is also the rear boundary of 
properties on the western side of Abbey Street, a street of historic properties mainly in 
residential use.

8.4 The application relates to a short terrace of modern properties with a carefully designed 
and tightly controlled, unified, and consistent appearance. With regard to the proposed 

Page 52



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 3.2

front door which has already been installed without permission, it is clear to me that with 
its GRP imitation woodgrain appearance does not match the character of the original 
timber doors on the rest of the terrace of properties. The proposed door is not in keeping 
and would be detrimental to the character and appearance of the host property, the 
adjoining properties and that of the surrounding conservation area.

8.5 I also find that the proposal to install aluminium French doors would be at odds with the 
features, forms, materials and treatments of Millers Cottages, which collectively are an 
important part of the character of the area. Here, the entire terrace of properties is read 
as one building, with domesticity limited by common standards, and the terrace needs 
to retain its homogeneous and in-keeping appearance. Any variation which detracts from 
the homogeneity and is not likely to be acceptable.

8.6 In my view the architecture of the entire block relies on a consistency of detailing to 
appear appropriate to the area. This is not a typical row of houses where individuality 
can be enjoyed, but a particularly sensitive style of block where the overall impression 
is greater than a sum of it parts, and where each part has a role to play in maintaining 
that character. To start tinkering with the inherent unity of the block risks it losing its 
character altogether.

8.7 I note the applicant’s referral to other nearby doors, but even though the Town Council 
echo that comment, those doors are not on this particular block and are each appropriate 
to their own situation. I do not believe that reference to doors elsewhere is any 
justification for harming the character of this particular block. Nor do I find the applicant’s 
arguments about energy efficiency convincing. There is no reason why timber joinery is 
incompatible with high standards of energy efficiency and the proposal here appears to 
be an inconsiderate and unsustainable way of targeting one objective at the expense of 
another, rather than a rounded and well thought through solution.

8.8 I would wish to see the original door re-instated, (or an uprated one to the same external 
design) and it is important to remember that the Council has a statutory duty to consider 
the preservation or enhancement of a conservation area, even for smaller proposals. 
For all development proposals it must clearly be shown that the proposal will preserve 
or enhance the character and appearance of the conservation area and I am of the 
opinion that the newly fitted door and the proposed metal French doors will detract from 
the traditional character of the entire block, and would be contrary to policy DM33.

9. CONCLUSION

9.1 In my view the proposals would fail to preserve or enhance the character and 
appearance of the conservation area and would be contrary to policy DM33.  I therefore 
recommend that the application be refused.

10. RECOMMENDATION - Refuse for the following reason:

REASON

(1) The replacement front door, together with the replacement of French doors on this 
individual; property which site within a well designed and well preserved single 
homogeneously designed block, would detract from the character of the property 

Page 53



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 3.2

itself, from the block as a whole, and would fail to preserve or enhance the special 
character and appearance of the conservation area. The proposal is therefore 
contrary to saved policies CP4, CP8, DM14, DM16 and DM33 Bearing Fruits 2031: 
The Swale Borough Local Plan 2017, and contrary to the Council’s Supplementary 
Planning Guidance relating to householder extensions and conservation areas.

The Council’s approach to the application

In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), February 
2019 the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused 
on solutions. We work with applicants/agents in a positive and creative way by offering a pre-
application advice service, where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful 
outcome and as appropriate, updating applicants / agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application. 

The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the applicant/agent had 
the opportunity to speak to the Committee and promote the application.

NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant 
Public Access pages on the council’s website.

The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is 
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

Page 54



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 3.2

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Planning Committee – 30 APRIL 2020 PART 5

PLANNING COMMITTEE – 30 APRIL 2020 PART 5

Report of the Head of Planning

PART 5

Decisions by County Council and Secretary of State, reported for information

 Item 5.1 – 3 Broadway Sheerness

APPEAL DISMISSED

DELEGATED REFUSAL

Observations

Full support for the Council’s decision to refuse this scheme which would have harmed 
this listed building.

 Item 5.2 – Bellever, Marshlands Farm Lower Road Minster

APPEAL DISMISSED

DELEGATED REFUSAL 

Observations

Full support for the refusal of this proposal, which would have seen a mobile home 
replaced with a substantial bungalow.

 Item 5.3 – Former Brewers Yard, St Michaels Road Sittingbourne

APPEAL ALLOWED

COMMITTEE REFUSAL 

Observations

The Inspector considered that the surfacing of the site could be dealt with by way of a 
condition, which was suggested to Members prior to the vote to refuse. Also of note is 
that the Inspector has granted permanent permission for this use, where I was 
recommending the grant of temporary permission.

 Item 5.4 – Land west of Barton Hill Drive Minster

APPEAL ALLOWED AND COSTS AWARDED TO THE APPELLANT

COMMITTEE REFUSAL 

Observations

Members will recall that I had recommended this major housing development for 
approval. The Inspector reported that the proposal would deliver 700 dwellings on land 

Page 57



Report to Planning Committee – 30 APRIL 2020 PART 5

mostly allocated within the Local Plan (A12) for development, and that the development 
parameters would allow for sufficient space to preserve the setting of Parsonage 
farmhouse, a Grade II listed building to the north of the site. 

The Inspector found that the scheme would have some adverse effects on the 
character and appearance of the area caused by the inclusion of land outside of the 
A12 policy allocation, and that this would conflict with policies ST3 and A12 of the Local 
Plan. However, he considered that the impact of this would not be significantly greater 
than a policy-compliant scheme, and that the scheme would not undermine the 
purposes of the Important Local Countryside Gap.

In his planning balance, the Inspector acknowledged that the Council could not 
demonstrate a five year housing supply and applied paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF – 
which states that planning permission should be granted unless the adverse impacts 
of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits. The Inspector 
considered the benefits to be the delivery of 700 dwellings (substantial weight), the 
contribution this would make to addressing the 5 year housing shortfall (moderate 
weight), delivery of the Rushenden primary school, an on-site local centre and potential 
on-site medical facility (all moderate weight), further highways improvements, and 
biodiversity net gain (substantial weight). He concluded that the adverse impacts of the 
development would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh its benefits, and that 
the presumption in favour of sustainable development weighed in favour of allowing 
the proposal.

The Inspector rejected the Council’s case that the scheme should include a condition 
requiring dwellings to be built to reduce carbon emissions by at least 50%, stating that 
the Council’s suggested condition was not supported by any local or national policies. 
Instead, he imposed a condition that was worded in a more flexible way to take account 
of relevant Building Regulations and planning policy requirements at the time of 
construction of each phase of the development.

The Inspector granted a partial award of costs against the Council. The Council 
withdrew two of its reasons for refusal based on lack of affordable housing and 
highways impacts prior to the Inquiry. However the Inspector concluded that the 
Council had failed to produce evidence to substantiate the reason for refusal relating 
to affordable housing and that the appellant had incurred unnecessary expense in 
preparing evidence on this.

The Inspector also considered the Council’s reason for refusal on highways grounds 
to be unreasonable and against the expert advice of Kent County Council and its own 
planning officers. Although mitigation was subsequently agreed that lead to the 
withdrawal of this reason, the Inspector considered that this could have been resolved 
without the need for the appellant to prepare evidence to contest the   reason at the 
Inquiry, and that the appellant had incurred unnecessary expense in providing this 
evidence.

Members should note that the Council has submitted papers to the High Court to 
challenge against the partial award of costs as there are errors in the planning 
inspectors decision which Counsel have advised are challengeable.

Page 58



Report to Planning Committee – 30 APRIL 2020 PART 5

 Item 5.5 – Caravan and Stables Old Billet Lane Eastchurch

APPEAL ALLOWED 

COMMITTEE REFUSAL 

Observations

The Inspector concluded that the development would not harm visual or residential 
amenity, and that the location of the site and its accessibility were not unacceptable.

 Item 5.6 – 58 Volante Drive Sittingbourne

APPEAL ALLOWED 

COMMITTEE REFUSAL 

Observations

The Inspector found the development to be acceptable, and did not agree that the use 
would harm visual or residential amenity, nor that it would give rise to significant 
parking issues.

 Item 5.7 – Hempstead Farm Hempstead Lane Tonge

APPEAL ALLOWED 

DELEGATED REFUSAL 

Observations

A very narrowly based decision which almost completely ignores the matter of the 
unnecessary detrimental impact on air quality of extra HGVs bringing in fruit from 
anywhere on the planet, and travelling through a number of designated AQMAs to do 
so, that were raised in the refusal and in the officer’s report.

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.1

Page 61



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.1

Page 62



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.1

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.2

Page 65



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.2

Page 66



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.2

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.3

Page 69



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.3

Page 70



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.3

Page 71



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.3

Page 72



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.3

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.4

Page 75



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.4

Page 76



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.4

Page 77



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.4

Page 78



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.4

Page 79



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.4

Page 80



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.4

Page 81



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.4

Page 82



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.4

Page 83



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.4

Page 84



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.4

Page 85



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.4

Page 86



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.4

Page 87



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.4

Page 88



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.4

Page 89



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.4

Page 90



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.4

Page 91



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.4

Page 92



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.4

Page 93



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.4

Page 94



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.4

Page 95



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.4

Page 96



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.4

Page 97



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.4

Page 98



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.4

Page 99



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.4

Page 100



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.4

Page 101



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.4

Page 102



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.4

Page 103



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.4

Page 104



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.4

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.5

Page 107



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.5

Page 108



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.5

Page 109



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.5

Page 110



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.5

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.6

Page 113



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.6

Page 114



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.6

Page 115



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.6

Page 116



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.6

Page 117



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.6

Page 118



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.6

Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.7

Page 121



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.7

Page 122



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.7

Page 123



Report to Planning Committee – 30 April 2020 ITEM 5.7

Page 124


	Agenda
	4 Deferred Item
	Def item 1 Appendix A

	5 Report of the Head of Planning Services
	INDEX
	2.1 White Acres
	2.2 Newton Place Surgery
	3.1 St Nicholas Allotment
	3.2 2 Millers Cottage
	Part 5 Index FINAL
	5.1 3 broadway
	5.2 Bellever
	5.3 former brewers yard
	5.4 land west of barton hill drive
	5.5 caravan and stables old billet lane
	5.6 58 Volante Drive
	5.7 Hempstead Farm


